## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CECIL JUNIOR PRUITT

APPELLANT

VS.

NUMBER 2010-CA-00230-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL

FROM

THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAUDERDALE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James A. Williams
MSB #
Attorney for Appellant
Post Office Box 5002
Meridian, Mississippi 39302

Telephone: (601) 693-3881 Facsimile: (601) 693-3873

## CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record for Appellant certifies the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of the case. This representation is made in order that the Judges of this Honorable may evaluate possible disqualifications Court recusals:

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

#### **ISSUE ONE**

WHETHER A PRISONER IS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS AND A FAIR HEARING WHEN HE IS DENIED AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON A POST CONVICTION COLLATERAL RELIEF PETITION WHERE HE SHOWS THAT HE WAS DENIED THE RIGHT TO TESTIFY BECAUSE HE HAD NO NOTICE THAT THE TRIAL OF THE NEW CHARGE WAS NOT TO GO FORTH BUT THAT THE COURT TIME WOULD BE USED FOR A REVOCATION OF POST RELEASE SUPERVISION AND THUS THE PROSPECT OF A TRIAL OF THE NEW CHARGE WAS HELD OVER HIS HEAD THROUGHOUT THE HEARING AND THE TRIAL JUDGE PARTICIPATED IN THIS DECISION WITH THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY AND THE JUDGE'S FAIRNESS WAS TAINTED.

#### **ISSUE TWO**

WHETHER A PRISONER IS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS WHEN HE IS DENIED AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON A POST CONVICTION COLLATERAL RELIEF PETITION WHERE THE TRIAL JUDGE RULED AT THE REVOCATION HEARING THAT HE HAD NO RIGHT TO DISCOVERY OF THE EVIDENCE AGAINST HIM, THIS IN PARTICULAR BEING EVIDENCE THAT A PURPORTED RESIDUE OF COCAINE WAS FOUND IN THE PRISONER'S VEHICLE, WHICH EVIDENCE IS CRITICAL IN SUPPORTING THE STORY OF THE CI'S ACCOUNT OF PURCHASING COCAINE FROM THE PRISONER ON POST RELEASE SUPERVISION.

#### ISSUE THREE

WHETHER A PRISONER IS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS WHEN HE IS DENIED AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON A POST CONVICTION COLLATERAL RELIEF PETITION WHERE HE SHOWS THAT HE DID NOT HAVE THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IN THAT HIS COUNSEL DID NOT MOVE TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE SEIZED FROM THE PRISONER AND STATEMENTS PURPORTEDLY MADE BY THE PRISONER BASED UPON NO PROBABLE CAUSE ARREST AND NO MIRANDA WARNING AND CONSENT OBTAINED BY DECEPTION; DID NOT PRODUCE DOCUMENTARY VEHICLE TITLE EVIDENCE THAT THE PRISONER HAD JUST PURCHASED THE VEHICLE THE DAY BEFORE; DID NOT HAVE PRISONER TESTIFY; DID NOT CROSS EXAMINATION CI ON CONTRADICTORY MOTIVATIONS, ON THE CI TRYING TO BUY COCAINE OR DRUGS FROM OTHERS BEFORE CONTACT WITH THE PRISONER, DID NOT POINT OUT CONTRADICTORY DRUG AGENT STATEMENTS OF TIME CI HAD BETWEEN PRISONER ENCOUNTER AND HANDING DRUGS TO AGENTS. CI'S OPPORTUNITIES TO BUY ELSEWHERE, DID NOT POINT OUT THAT THE RESIDUE SUBSTANCE PER THE LAB REPORT WAS NEGATIVE FOR COCAINE, DID NOT SUBMIT VEHICLE TITLE DOCUMENTATION THAT PRISONER HAD THE WHITE LINCOLN ONLY ONE DAY BEFORE THE PURPORTED SALE; AND WHERE COUNSEL DID NOT PREPARE FOR THE HEARING BY AT LEAST KNOWING WHETHER PRISONER SHOULD TESTIFY AND BY INTRODUCING WIRE TAPE RECORDING OF CI'S ENCOUNTER WITH THE PRISONER BUT THE PRISONER HAD NEVER LISTENED TO THE TAPE.

**ISSUE FOUR** 

WHETHER A PRISONER IS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS WHEN HE IS DENIED AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON A POST CONVICTION COLLATERAL RELIEF PETITION WHERE HE SHOWS THAT THE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMANT LIED ABOUT THE PRISONER SELLING THE CI COCAINE, THE CI WAS ATTEMPTING TO PURCHASE DRUGS BEFORE ENCOUNTERING THE PRISONER, AND THE CI HAD AMPLE OPPORTUNITY TO OBTAIN COCAINE ELSEWHERE THAN THE PRISONER AND THERE WERE CONFLICTING ACCOUNTS FOR THE MOTIVATION OF THE CI AND CONFLICTING ACCOUNTS SUPPORTED BY DOCUMENTATION BETWEEN THE TESTIFYING AGENT AND THOSE NON-TESTIFYING AGENTS AS TO THE LENGTH OF TIME THE CI WAS OUT OF CONTROL AFTER THE ALLEGED PURCHASE.

**ISSUE FIVE** 

WHETHER A PRISONER IS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS WHEN HE IS DENIED AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON A POST CONVICTION COLLATERAL RELIEF PETITION WHERE HE SHOWS THAT THE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMANT'S CREDIBILITY DEPENDED UPON THE OFFICERS IMMEDIATELY SEIZING THE PRISONER, THE ALLEGED "BUY MONEY" AND THE "OVER OUNCE OF COCAINE" FROM WHICH THE CI SAID THE PRISONER BROKE OFF THE SMALLER PIECE OF CRACK COCAINE TO SELL THE CI.

**ISSUE SIX** 

WHETHER A PRISONER IS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS WHEN HE IS DENIED AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON A POST CONVICTION COLLATERAL RELIEF PETITION WHERE HE SHOWS THAT THE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMANT HAD LIED ABOUT WHAT HAPPENED AT HIS ENCOUNTER WITH THE PRISONER AT THE PRISONER'S AUTOMOBILE WHERE THE AFFIDAVITS SHOW THAT ANY MONEY RECEIVED FROM THE CI WAS REPAYMENT OF A LOAN TO THE CI FROM THE PRISONER.

**ISSUE SEVEN** 

WHETHER A PRISONER IS DENIED A FAIR HEARING, FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS AND DUE PROCESS OF LAW IN A REVOCATION HEARING WHERE THE JUDGE RULES THERE IS NO RIGHT TO DISCOVERY OF THE EVIDENCE AGAINST THE PRISONER, NO RIGHT TO 4TH AMENDMENT PROTECTIONS AND ACTIVELY PARTICIPATES IN FAVORABLY RESURRECTING THE CI WITNESS, UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES THAT THE JUDGE HAS PARTICIPATED IN A DECISION TO FOREGO TRIAL ON THE PRIMARY CHARGE AND ONLY HOLD THE REVOCATION HEARING AND THIS DECISION WAS NOT COMMUNICATED TO THE PRISONER.

ISSUE EIGHT

WHETHER A PRISONER IS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS IN A REVOCATION HEARING ON HIS POST RELEASE SUPERVISION WHERE THE TRIAL JUDGE, IN HIS RULING DENYING THE PETITION WHERE IT CONSIDERS THE ARGUMENT IN PRISONER'S PETITION THAT HE HAD NO NOTICE OF THE REVOCATION HEARING BUT CAME TO COURT EXPECTING ONLY TO BE TRIED ON THE NEW CHARGE, REVEALS THAT HE AND THE STATE HAD DECIDED NOT TO HOLD THE TRIAL ON THE NEW CHARGE, BUT ONLY HOLD THE REVOCATION HEARING, WHICH REVELATION DOES NOT INDICATE AT ALL THAT THIS WAS COMMUNICATED TO THE PRISONER OR HIS ATTORNEY AND THUS THE TRIAL JUDGE COULD NOT BE FAIR AT THE REVOCATION HEARING BECAUSE HE BECAME VESTED IN SECURING AN OUTCOME DISFAVOR ABLE TO THE PRISONER.

#### **ISSUE NINE**

WHETHER A PRISONER IS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS AND NOTICE OF AND OPPORTUNITY TO PREPARE WHEN THE REVOCATION HEARING IS HELD WITHOUT THERE FIRST BEING A PRELIMINARY REVOCATION HEARING OR WAIVER AND THERE IS NO NOTICE OF THE REVOCATION HEARING DATE

#### **ISSUE TEN**

WHETHER A PRISONER IS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW AND FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS AND RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION WHEN THE COCAINE FORMING THE BASIS OF THE REVOCATION IS NOT INTRODUCED INTO EVIDENCE AND ONLY A COPY OF A CRIME LAB ANALYSIS IS INTRODUCED AND THE FORENSIC ANALYST IS NOT PRESENTED TO TESTIFY.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# Proceedings Below

## The Motions and Exhibits

Pruitt's initial handwritten PCCR challenge to the Revocation Hearing had the following claims:

- a. No disclosure of the evidence against him;
- b. No opportunity to present witnesses or documentary evidence (because of having no advance notice of the hearing and evidence relied on and opportunity to prepare a defense);
- c. No 'neutral and detached' hearing body (the judge in this case presided over the criminal cause which resulted in the revocation);
  - d. No written statement by the fact finders of the evidence relied on.

In paragraph 13, Pruitt cited **Grayson v. State**, 648 So.2d 1129 (Miss. 1994), where the circuit judge after a mistrial or hung jury on a new criminal indictment simply brought the Petitioner before the bench and proceeded to revoke his Post Release Supervision. Pruitt interpreted the failure to try the new cocaine sale charge showed lack of evidence to revoke. The reason for not having the trial was revealed, first in the Nolle Prosequi Order on the new charge, Number 633-07, which said the CI was not available and second, implicating notice on the revocation, is the circuit judge's initial order denying the PCCR, which reveals, post-revocation, some ex parte discussion between the District Attorney and the circuit judge to jointly elect to go for revocation instead of a trial, all unbeknownst to Pruitt or his Attorney. Pruitt called the sudden substitution of the revocation hearing

for a trial as "an ambush", denying due process of law and fundamental fairness.

In March 2009, his retained attorney filed an <u>Amended Petition</u> whose contents start with then Paragraph 15, CP 14, RE 24, and raised new claims or supplemented Pruitt's handwritten challenge to the Revocation paraphrased as follows:

15. Pruitt's PCCR counsel stated the un-noticed, revocation by ambush caught Pruitt by surprise, not prepared to confront the Drug Task Force Agent Merchant, the CI Shannon Tension(strangely available for revocation, but not trial). Pruitt stated that the difference of a convicted drug felon testifying in front of a jury on the new charge and testifying at a revocation hearing without a jury and the fact that he did not testify at the revocation hearing was caused by the ambush and the record showed no knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to testify.

16. He stated that whether to testify was chilled and right to testify denied by the fact that the State held the prospect of trial in number 633-07 over Pruitt's head while the Revocation Hearing was conducted. The Court at T4 said: "And as I understand it, the State is not pursuing that today." (Pruitt thus argues the prospect of still facing trial on the new Indictment chilled his exercise of his right to testify at the Revocation Hearing.) ...... Mr. Angero for the State disagreed that the Nolle Prosequi Order was with prejudice and the Court yielded to Mr. Angero's position (T66-67).

17. Pruitt stated and contended that Shannon Tension's sudden availability for the revocation hearing, but not the trial, raised serious question whether the State ever intended to try Number 633-07. He urged a penalty of disallowing the testimony of the CI Shannon Tension. He contended that an evidentiary hearing would help show that the Nolle Prosequi reason of CI could not be found was a misrepresentation and proof would likely show the jury wasn't even summonsed for the Pruitt trial and thus the State already knew it would not try the new case but pursue the revocation only, but such development was not told to Pruitt nor his attorney. Now, it is clear by the Circuit Judge's initial Order Denying PCCR, that there was some ex party conference between the State and the Circuit Judge to call off the trial of Number 633-07 and same was no told Pruitt.

18. Here, the PCCR Attorney re-stated the 'Hobson's choice". The State has had its cake and ate it too. The Nolle Prose Order in 633-07 says the case was Nolle Prosed because "CI cannot be located by Task Force." However, the Task Force found the CI, arguably, before the State had

requested to Nolle Prose the case. The Judge at the end of the hearing, considered his Order was with(out) prejudice. (See CP 91-92, Transcript of Revocation Hearing)

19. Here, Pruitt began to state instances of ineffective counsel at Revocation hearing counsel, stating specifically here that counsel should have filed a Motion to Suppress the cocaine crumb and residue and purported "buy-money", two twenty dollar bills, and Pruitt's statements to the Agents at the scene or later. He contended that counsel could have shown that Shannon Tension's accusation of an ounce of cocaine in Pruitt's car was false and not credible. Pruitt's consent to a search was obtained by deception and falsehood. Agents' true intent was to seize "buy money". Any Miranda Rights waiver by Pruitt was tainted. Factually, according to Pruitt, there was no Miranda until 7:36 P.M. At the white Lincoln, the Agents did not say Pruitt was arrested at all, especially not Sale of Drugs. Only at the Task Force Office, was Pruitt arrested for anything, then for sale of drugs. This was after Pruitt denied selling drugs and the Agents said they got their buy money from Pruitt's car.

20. Here Pruitt stated that counsel was ineffective because counsel should have advised Pruitt to testify. Further Pruitt stated that Attorney Jones had not prepared because he never had Pruitt review the drug sale tape but Attorney Jones himself had the tape introduced. Pruitt stated that Attorney Jones was ineffective in cross examination of Shannon Tension about the sales tape in at least two ways, i.e. Tension attempting to buy drugs from others though Agent Merchant testified Pruitt was the target Shannon Tension did not stay with that plan. The tape revealed Tension, after leaving the drop-off agents' vehicle several blocks from Valley Street, immediately started trying to buy drugs from anyone. After apparently getting Freak's (nickname for Cecil Junior Pruitt) phone number and calling it, Tension says "he ain't got none," apparently to those standing around on the street. Without Freak the target, a "buy-bust" is improbable. Tension was motivated to have the agents' get the purported "buy-money', and Tension fabricated the scenario of an ounce of crack in the car after Tension's purported purchase of crack. Further as counsel failure Merchant at T10 testified the October 9, 2007 alleged drug buy was the sole and only one Shannon Tension made. He qualified that immediately by saying that's all he recalled. As defense counsel pointed out, at T33, when Tension got back to the designated location there were no agents there to pick him up. Tension testified just the opposite (T50). Defense counsel also pointed out that Freak's response as said by

Tension when Tension warned Freak that law enforcement were everywhere, that "this is my block. I run this here" was not on the tape (T51).

Additional ineffective counsel claims are that Attorney Jones never discussed a defense and only visited him in the jail once or twice, again, never played the tape to Pruitt and never asked him to explain the "buy money" in Pruitt's car.

- 21. Attorney Jones failed to insist that the tape be played to the Judge in open court.
- 22. Here and in Paragraphs 23, Pruitt claimed there was insufficient credible non-hearsay evidence to support a revocation and thus defendant was denied due process of law. At Paragraph 23, 24 and 25, Pruitt challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to meet the State's burden of proof and the absence of specific conclusion and definite finding by the Circuit Judge that a sale had occurred and faulted that the conclusion was just the personal opinion of the judge.
- 26. Pruitt here independently, outside the umbrella of ineffective counsel, complained of search and seizure defects and that his statements were tainted.
- 27. Here Pruitt stated a violation to the right to discovery in a revocation hearing, right to know the evidence against the probationer. Pruitt contends the Judge erred in not sustaining objection to Agent Merchant's testimony at T17 about a crack cocaine crumb on the front floor of the driver's side and some cocaine residue in the console. Attorney Jones argued there was no crime lab results to prove the residue or crumbs were cocaine in the Discovery he received from the State, the Court then distinguished (T18) that the discovery was on the sale charge and not the revocation Petition. Effectively, Petitioner argues, the Court by this distinction compounded the prejudice to Petitioner of holding the revocation hearing in lieu of the trial.
- 28. Pruitt contends it was a denial of the right to confrontation when the Court ruled what had happened a few months before ,when Pruitt was stopped on the Interstate, was irrelevant, where despite that the source had said Pruitt was transporting drugs, none were found (T24).
- 29. Here Pruitt stated what his testimony would have been and what other evidence would have been presented. Pruitt stated that his testimony would have been that Shannon Tension did call Pruitt and told him he had the money he had borrowed from him a few weeks before. When Pruitt pulled up beside Shannon, he gave Pruitt the \$40.00, and Shannon started telling about police being

in the area and Pruitt left. Pruitt would have testified he did sale drugs to Shannon.

- 30. Here Pruitt stated a right to confrontation claim based on no introduction of the cocaine and no live forensic testimony. Pruitt contends the actual cocaine should have been introduced into evidence, not just a lab report. He further adds now that the State's not presenting a Forensic Lab expert belies again that the State ever intended to try the new case and in fact had decided not the day before or such and never told Pruitt nor his attorney of this decision.
- 31. Here Pruitt stated a reasonable factual basis that showed Shannon Tension lied about one ounce of drugs still in his car. There was no opportunity to get rid of such a large amount of crack cookie, since Agent Merchant testified Pruitt was in sight from the time Shannon left Pruitt's window until "one minute" later and about 3 city blocks away, he stopped Pruitt.

# Motion for Reconsideration/Supplementary Materials

The Court, after the Amended PCCR was filed, had consented to Pruitt's attorney filing additional supplementary materials and affidavits. However, through the Court's oversight, it went ahead and ruled on the Amended Petition. When questioned by Pruitt's counsel, the Court allowed him to file the promised materials. The Court reviewed the Supplementary Materials and issued a final styled Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration.

In his *Prefatory Statement*, to the Motion for Reconsideration, Pruitt requested that all the allegations, complaints and errors alleged in these supplementary Materials be considered as independent claims or elaborations of claims previously made in his filings herein.

The Reconsideration Motion had attached an Affidavit of Petitioner (A-1 - A-2) which swore to the contents of the supplemental facts, arguments or criticisms and documents attached. Those attachments were: (a) Factual/Legal Claims Arguments. (A3 - A7); (b) Complaints of Factual Events, Etc. (A8-A19) (containing at its page 3 a "Transcript (of the Revocation Hearing) Analysis and Complaints of Counsel and Proceedings",; (c) Duplicate Certificate of Title (A20) on the white Lincoln October 8, 2007; (d) Eleven(11) photographs (A21-A31) of the street scenes, stop signs and drug neighborhood from the CI drop off point through to the front of Addy Dunnigan's house (Pruitt's mother) just south of the intersection of Valley Street and 33rd Avenue. These are labeled "P-1" through "P-11"; (e) The aerial view of the streets (A32) involved from 30th Avenue

and 8th Street through 33rd Avenue at the "X" where Addy Dunnigan's house is and the Drug Task Force Stop occurred. This drawing shows the route of the CI from 8th Street, turning right at Stop Sign on 7th and then going to Valley Street; (f) A drawing (A33) of what a one(1) ounce "cookie or cake" of crack cocaine would look like in approximate size;

Also attached to the Motion for Reconsideration were the <u>Affidavits of two witnesses</u> at the Addy Dunnigan house where Pruitt was stopped, seized and the White Lincoln searched, that of <u>Donna Marie Pruitt McElroy:</u> two(2) affidavits, marked "Affidavit One" and "Affidavit Two". (A34 - A40); that of <u>Nicole Hill.</u> (A41-A44); and the <u>Affidavit of Dwayne Pruitt</u> ("Donte" on the tape of the wire worn by the CI) revealing events at the encounter between Pruitt and the CI on Valley Street. (A45-A47)

Also attached or submitted were the <u>Full Transcript</u> of the March 18, 2008 <u>Revocation Hearing</u> in Lauderdale Circuit Court Number 522-04; selected relevant excerpts of the <u>Discovery Packet</u> in Lauderdale Circuit Case Number 633-07( the new cocaine sale case) (A48-A65); the <u>Order of Nolle Prosequi</u> (A66) in Lauderdale County, Mississippi Circuit Case Number 633-07; All post release supervision filings in Number 552-04 by MDOC Field Officer Robert Baysinger being only: "<u>Affidavit(Violation of Post-Release Supervision)</u>" filed October 10, 2007; "<u>Warrant(Post-Release)</u>" filed October 10, 2009; and "<u>Petition(Post Release)</u>", filed October 10, 2007.

The Motion explained the reason for unavailability of an Affidavit of Henry Armstrong which would have shown that the CI, Shannon Tension, Armstrong's younger brother, had revealed to him that he(the CI) was arrested for "pills and powder" and that was why he was working for the Drug Task Force. Armstrong had also been told by the CI of some bad cocaine he said he had bought from Pruitt that had torn up his nose and Pruitt had laughed at him or such when he wanted his money back. Further undersigned Counsel stated that when that attorney visited Shannon Tension in the jail, Tension had recounted the to that Attorney the same bad cocaine story.

Pruitt then specified and expanded on how the so-called "buy money" was actual repayment of a loan by Pruitt to Shannon Tension, which was supported by a part of the Affidavit of Dewayne Pruitt.

The Motion revealed that the Tape of the wire worn by the CI had been listened to by the

undersigned Attorney and once by Cecil Pruitt at the penitentiary.

The Motion then had a section entitled An Evidentiary Hearing is Justified in which Pruitt argued there insufficient proof that Pruitt had sold crack cocaine to Shannon Tension and that the standard of proof was not met at the hearing and the hearing contained material misrepresentations of fact by Agent Merchant and Shannon Tension. In Paragraph 7, Pruitt argued how unusual, ridiculous, specious and self-serving was Tension's converting a drug buy into a "buy-bust".

Then followed several Paragraphs, whose contents are reserved for the Propositions, but whose descriptive titles were as follows:

8. CI not Immediately Retrieved—all Drug Task Force agents/vehicles at Manipulated Buy-Bust.

9. False Report by CI that Ounce of Cocaine Still in Pruitt's Vehicle; 10. Drugs Readily Available to Shannon Tension, the CI.; 11. CI Falsely Swore under Oath at Revocation Hearing; 12.

Take-Down was Time-consuming; 13. Dewayne Pruitt's Affidavit and That of Cecil Pruitt Show "Don't Have to Break it Down" Involves Taking Tobacco out of a Cigar; 14. Agent Merchant falsely Swore at the Hearing that Cocaine Residue was in the White Lincoln's Floorboard

Then followed a Section denominated as *FACTUAL AND LEGAL ARGUMENTS* under which Pruitt complained of the un-noticed revocation hearing, that the holding over Pruitt's head of a possible trial in Number 633-07 chilled his right to testify at the Revocation Hearing, ineffective counsel, that The Search and Seizure, including statements of Pruitt was in Violation of the 4th, 5th, 6th and 14th Amendments to the United States Constitution, a *new complaint* that there was No Preliminary Revocation Hearing nor Waiver and right to confrontation denied through failure to actually introduce the cocaine and reliance upon the Drug Lab Report and no testimony by the Forensic Expert.

#### Orders Denying PCCR

The initial order denying the PCCR revealed to Pruitt how the decision was made not to try the new charge, Number 633-07, but only pursue the Revocation:

"On March 18, 2008, the Court, to best serve justice and judicial economy, held a Revocation Hearing on Cause No. 5 52-04, the petition for which had been filed on October 10,2007. Following the Court's decision on the revocation issue, the Court entered an Order of Nolle Prosequi in Cause No. 633-07 dismissing the charge of sale of cocaine within 1500 feet of a church. The Court and the District Attorney felt that the revocation of the suspended time in Cause No. 552-04 was suitable punishment for the Defendant in both cases."

The Court said at CP 97, RE 9, that the decision of the Court to grant the State's Motion to Nolle Prosequi "the charge in an effort to promote judicial economy is irrelevant as to the revocation."

At CP 98, RE 10, the Court limited its review of the challenges to the hearing as one of a claim against use of hearsay and denied the challenge to the evidence.

AS to the ineffective counsel claim where no suppression motion was filed, the Court said at CP 99, RE 12, that the Mississippi Rules of Evidence did not apply in revocation hearings.

As to no playing of the tape wire recording in open court, the Circuit Judge said Pruitt's own counsel had requested a listening in chambers by the judge. Generally as to ineffective counsel claims, the judge ruled that there was no showing of deficiency and no showing of prejudice.

In the Order Denying Reconsideration with new materials, the Judge denied the PCCR. Though Pruitt had raised many points and issues challenging the Post Release Revocation hearing and the underlying basis for it, the trial court concluded the only new claims were the following, as stated at CP 194, RE 15: (1) standard of proof was not met; (2) no notice of the revocation hearing, (3) without notice, Pruitt was not prepared to testify, (4) ineffective assistance of counsel(trial court did not reconsider same though additional substantial materials were submitted), (5) search and seizure, including statements made by Pruitt were in violation of the 4th, 5th, 6th and 14th Amendments to the United States Constitution, (6) no preliminary revocation hearing nor waiver thereof and (7) no introduction of the cocaine and only lab reports were used and thus denied right to confrontation.

As to the factual conclusion to deny the PCCR the judge at CP 196, RE 17, in his Order Denying the Reconsideration, wrote:

After extensive testimony this Court found on the record:

[The testimony of Mr. Tension was documented by Mr. Merchant and verified in all significant portions by the wire that was garbled but essentially convinces the Court that there was a drug transaction that took place between Mr. Tension and an individual he referred to as "Freak" and identified here in court as the Defendant. The Court is convinced that Mr. Pruitt was involved in a drug sale, cocaine sale, on the evening of October 9 of 2007. And as such, it was a clear violation of his post-release supervision contract. (T65)

The Petitioner has now presented evidence trying to disprove portions of the testimony of Karl Merchant and Shannon Tension. After reviewing all supplemented material provided by the Petitioner, this Court finds that there is sufficient evidence that the CI, Shannon Tension, was searched, wired, and given two marked twenty (20) dollar bills. He was

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