#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**CECIL JUNIOR PRUITT** 

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2010-CA-0230-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I., II., III., IV., V., VI., VII., VIII., IX.

Defendant was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the basis of his motion for 'reconsideration' of the trial courts order denying relief on the 'first' motion for post-conviction relief.

There was ample evidence that Pruitt was involved in the sale of drugs sufficient to revoke the suspended sentence. Just because petitioner supplemented his petition on a motion to reconsider did not mean the trial court had to have an evidentiary hearing.

Χ.

Confrontation clause implications of Melendez-Diaz are not implicated in a civil revocation hearing.

Revocation proceedings are civil in nature and do not implicate the Sixth Amendment right of confrontation as delineated in Melendez-Diaz

#### **ARGUMENT**

I., II., III., IV., V., VI., VII., VIII., IX.
DEFENDANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING
ON THE BASIS OF HIS MOTION FOR 'RECONSIDERATION' OF THE
TRIAL COURTS ORDER DENYING RELIEF ON THE 'FIRST' MOTION
FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF.

Pruitt sought to have the trial court reconsider the **revocation of probation** and sentence imposed by filing a Petition of Writ of Habeas Corpus and/or Motion to Reinstate Post-Release Supervision. (C.p. 2-9).

The trial reiterated in the findings of fact and conclusions of law the petition was an petition challenging the Order Revoking Post-Release Supervision in casue No. 552-04. (Order denying relief, c.p. 95, 96 & 97). A copy of the original order is found in the record at page 7.

Not satisfied and aided by counsel an additional bundle of affidavits, drawings, photos, maps and evidence was appended and included in a motion to reconsider.

Again, the trial court reiterated the proceedings with significant findings of fact and conclusions of law in denying relief. (C.p. 192-199).

Now, petitioner argues he was wrongly denied an evidentiary hearing.

¶ 17. [ ... ] "If the motion is not dismissed at a previous state of the proceeding, the judge, after the answer is filed and discovery, if any, is completed, shall, upon a review of the record, determine whether an evidentiary hearing is required. If it appears that an evidentiary hearing is not required, the judge shall make such disposition of the motion as justice shall require." Miss.Code Ann. § 99-39-19(1) (Rev.2007).

Barnes v. State, 2010 WL 2490747 (Miss.App. 2010)(decided June 22, 2010).

Petitioner and counsel confuse proof that is legally sufficient to revoke a suspended sentence and proof sufficient to convict of a crime. The trial judge had proof of defendant's arrest and indictment for a crime committed within the period of supervised probation.

¶ 4. A conviction of these traffic violations was not necessary to revoke Edwards' probation. Younger v. State, 749 So.2d 219, 222 (¶ 12) (Miss.Ct.App.1999). It need only be shown that the defendant "more likely than not" violated the terms of the supervised release agreement. Id., quoting Berdin v. State, 648 So.2d 73, 78 (Miss.1994). We find no error with the lower court's ruling in this matter.

Edwards v. State, 834 So.2d 49 (Miss.App. 2002)(emphasis added).

The trial court had evidence of Pruit violating the terms of his supervised release.

The trial court need not find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt – but that Pruitt "more likely than not" violated the terms of his supervised release agreement.

¶11. A trial court enjoys wide discretion in determining whether to grant an evidentiary hearing. Hebert v. State, 864 So.2d 1041, 1045(11) (Miss.Ct.App.2004). A post-conviction claim for relief is properly dismissed without the benefit of an evidentiary hearing where it is manifestly without merit. Holland v. State, 956 So.2d 322, 326(7) (Miss.Ct.App.2007) (citations omitted). This means that dismissal is appropriate where it appears beyond a doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief. Culbert v. State, 800 So.2d 546, 550(9) (Miss.Ct.App.2001) (citing Turner v. State, 590 So.2d 871, 874 (Miss.1991)).

Williams v. State, 4 So.3d 388, 392 (Miss.App. 2009).

It would appear from the record and the order of the court the trial judge considered the record and in the interests of justice denied relief without an evidentiary hearing.

There was ample evidence in the record to support the trial court ruling that Pruitt denied the terms of his post-release supervision agreement.

Even if petitioner Pruitt went to trial on the charges and was found not guilty such would not make his sentence revocation illegal.

¶ 5. Peacock contends his sentence was illegally revoked because he was ultimately found not guilty of the charges upon which his suspended sentence was revoked. A conviction is not necessary for revocation of probation. Berdin v. State, 648 So.2d 73, 79 (Miss.1994). A mere showing that a defendant has more likely than not violated the terms of his release is sufficient. Id. (citing Wallace v. State, 607 So.2d 1184, 1190 (Miss.1992)). Peacock fails to specify that he did not violate the terms and conditions of his suspended sentence. This issue is without merit.

Every issue raised as claimed error one through eight had to do with the court not granting an evidentiary hearing for reconsideration that his suspended sentence had been revoked. There was no need as the transcript provides ample evidence that Pruitt violated the terms of his sentencing agreement.

The record is replete that Pruitt had plenty of notice as to the hearing...

¶ 7. Thus, we find no indication that the minimum requirements for a revocation hearing were not met in this case. Penton filed a written affidavit alleging that Agent had violated the terms of his probation. A revocation hearing was held where the charges were read to Agent and he was given an opportunity to respond to the charges. Although Agent claims that he could have produced witnesses which would have attested to the fact that he attempted to get help for his drug addiction, the fact remains that he failed to do so. Further, as the circuit court aptly noted in its denial of Agent's motion for post-conviction relief, the only evidence that Agent claims he would have presented was merely regarding his rehabilitation efforts, not to refute his violation of the terms of his PRS. Accordingly, this issue is without merit.

Agent v. State, 30 So.3d 370, 373 (Miss.App. 2010).

Pruitt was arrested in October, as the transcript indicates there was a convoluted arrangements made of which Pruitt was obviously aware. (C.p. 28-30). Counsel was clearly aware of the nature of the proceedings and ready to proceed.

Every claim one through nine is based upon the trial court not granting an evidentiary hearing on the motion to reconsider the trial court's first denial of relief appealing the order to revoke suspended sentence. (C.p. 7).

From reading the transcript of the revocation proceeding the trial court found defendant was involved in a drug sale. (C.p. 90). That's all it takes, no need for proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Affidavits, photos, maps, claims of innocence attached to a motion to reconsider do not necessarily mean an evidentiary hearing is necessary. The trial court was not persuaded and was correct in denying relief the second time.

Consequently there being no abuse of discretion no relief should be granted on any of the above allegations of error based upon the trial courts failure to grant an evidentiary hearing on the motion to reconsider.

#### X.

# CONFRONTATION CLAUSE IMPLICATIONS OF MELENDEZ-DIAZ ARE NOT IMPLICATED IN A CIVIL REVOCATION HEARING.

In Mississippi revocation of probation, suspended sentence and the like are considered civil in nature and do not implicate the full panoply of Constitutional rights. *Younger v. State*, 749 So.2d 219, 221 (Miss.App. 1999).

The Sixth Amendment only applies to "criminal prosecutions" and a revocation of supervised release is not a part of such a prosecution. Id. "Revocation deprives an individual, not of the absolute liberty to which every citizen is entitled, but only of the conditional liberty properly dependent on observance of special [] restrictions," and thus the full protection provided to a criminal defendant under the Confrontation Clause does not apply to revocation cases. United States v. Ray, 530 F.3d 666, 668 (8th Cir.2008) (quoting Morrissey, 408 U.S. at 480). For this reason, Crawford, and by extension, Melendez-Diaz, are not implicated in a supervised release revocation proceeding. Ray, 530 F.3d at 668; Martin, 382 F.3d at 844, n. 4; see also United States v. Hall, 419 F.3d 980, 985-86 (9th Cir.2005); United States v. Aspinall, 389 F.3d 332, 342 (2d Cir.2004).

U.S. v. Left Hand Bull, 2009 WL 2030544, 1 (D.S.D. 2009).

It is the succinct position of the State *Melendez-Diaz* is not implicated in the civil revocation hearing for revocation of a suspended sentence.

Consequently, no relief should be granted on this last claim of error.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the trial court denial of post-conviction relief.